
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

 ATLANTA DIVISION 
 

CHERYL NAHMIAS,   ) 

 ) 

Plaintiff, ) 

 ) Civil Action 

v. v.  ) File No.:  

  ) Case 1:20-cv-05206-TCB-AJB 

 ) 

  )  

CITY SCHOOLS OF DECATUR, ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

DAVID DUDE, in his individual and ) 

official capacities, and MAGGIE ) 

FEHRMAN, in her individual and ) 

official capacities, ) 

 ) 

 Defendants. ) 

_________________________________ ) 

 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND EQUITABLE RELIEF 

 

Plaintiff, Dr. Cheryl Nahmias, submits the following Amended Complaint 

for Damages and Equitable Relief against Defendants City Schools of Decatur, 

Superintendent David Dude, individually and in his official capacity as 

Superintendent of City Schools of Decatur, and Maggie Fehrman, individually and 

in her official capacity as Assistant Superintendent of City Schools of Decatur 

(hereinafter collectively referred to as “Defendants”), showing the Court as 

follows: 

Case 1:20-cv-05206-TCB-AJB   Document 4   Filed 01/19/21   Page 1 of 82



2 
 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  

This is an employment case arising from race discrimination and retaliation 

against Plaintiff Dr. Cheryl Nahmias pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1981, § 1983, and 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, as well as violations 

of her First Amendment rights under the U.S. Constitution, Georgia Whistleblower 

Act O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4 (“GWA”), and Georgia Open Records Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-

18-71 et seq. (“GORA”), by Defendants City Schools of Decatur (“CSD” or “the 

District”), its Superintendent David Dude, and its Assistant Superintendent Maggie 

Fehrman.    

2.  

Dr. Nahmias was a dedicated International Baccalaureate (“IB”) Coordinator 

and Instructional Coach serving the students of Defendant CSD for fifteen years 

until she opposed violations of her minor son, S.N.’s, constitutional, civil and 

educational privacy rights beginning in May 2020, and subsequently her own 

rights. Defendants David Dude and Maggie Fehrman targeted Dr. Nahmias, 

restricted her communications with colleagues and students, subjected her to a 

five-months-long sham investigation and fishing expedition, and then in retaliation 
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for her advocacy for herself, her son and prior history of whistleblowing activity, 

ultimately demoted her for groundless, pre-textual reasons.    

3.  

Plaintiff seeks reinstatement to her position as IB Coordinator and 

Instructional Coach at Decatur High School (“DHS”), compensatory damages, 

punitive damages against the individual defendants, reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs of litigation, injunctive relief prohibiting further unlawful treatment, and all 

other relief this Court may deem just. 

EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

4.  

Dr. Nahmias has satisfied all administrative prerequisites to perfect her 

claims of race discrimination and retaliation under Title VII. Specifically, she 

timely filed a Charge of Discrimination and Retaliation with the U.S. Equal 

Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) following her retaliatory 

demotion, and is awaiting investigation of her allegations and the issuance of a 

Notice of Right to Sue or EEOC intervention in this case.  Upon receipt of a Notice 

of Right to Sue, she will move to amend this Complaint to add claims of race 

discrimination and retaliation under Title VII.   
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5.  

Plaintiff’s claims present federal questions over which this Court has 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and § 1343(a). 

6.  

The violations of Plaintiff’s rights occurred in the Northern District of 

Georgia. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), as a substantial part 

of the events and omissions giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in the Atlanta 

Division of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. 

7.  

 This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law causes of 

action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

PARTIES 

8.  

 Plaintiff Cheryl Nahmias currently resides in Decatur, Georgia, which is in 

the Atlanta Division of the Northern District of Georgia. 

9.  

 Plaintiff’s race is white.  
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10.  

Defendant CSD is a local public school district operating by virtue of Art. 

VIII, § VII, ¶ 1 of the Constitution of the State of Georgia, which granted authority 

to counties to establish and maintain public schools within their limits but reserved 

authority in municipalities to maintain existing independent school systems. CSD 

is governed by the City of Decatur Board of Education and may be served with 

process by service upon its Chief Executive Officer, Defendant Dude. 

11.  

Defendant Dude is and was at all relevant times the Superintendent of the 

Defendant CSD. He is sued in his individual and official capacities. Dude is 

subject to the jurisdiction of this Court and may be served with process by personal 

service or leaving copies of the summons and complaint at his workplace, dwelling 

house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion 

residing there, or by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an agent 

authorized to receive service of process. 

12.  

Defendant Maggie Fehrman is and was at all relevant times the Assistant 

Superintendent of Defendant CSD.  She is sued in her individual and official 

capacities. Fehrman is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court and may be served 
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with process by personal service or leaving copies of the summons and complaint 

at her place of work or her dwelling house or usual place of abode with some 

person of suitable age and discretion residing there, or by delivering a copy of the 

summons and complaint to an agent authorized to receive service of process.   

13.  

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant CSD was Plaintiff’s 

“employer” as defined by Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(b). 

14.  

At all times relevant to this action, Defendant CSD was a state actor within 

the meaning of the Constitution of the United States, as well as a public employer 

under the laws of the State of Georgia. 

15.  

At all times relevant to this action, Defendants were acting under color of 

state law.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

16.  
 

Dr. Nahmias has worked for Defendant CSD for fifteen years and is still 

presently employed there following her demotion on November 11, 2020. 
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17.  

Defendant Dude became Superintendent of CSD in or about September 

2016.  

18.  

Defendant Maggie Fehrman has worked for CSD as an Assistant 

Superintendent since June 2018.  

EVENTS GIVING RISE TO DR. NAHMIAS’ PROTECTED ACTIVITY 

 

19.  

On or about May 27, 2020, a video of Dr. Nahmias’ son, S.N., was released 

by another student on social media and went viral on multiple social media 

platforms. The video depicts S.N., who was a fourteen year-old freshman at 

Decatur High School (“DHS”) when the video was made a year earlier, mimicking 

a racist Instagram video that he had viewed earlier with his friends. One of those 

friends recorded and released the parody video to others despite S.N.’s repeated 

demands for it to be deleted.    

20.  

 In response to the release of this video a year later by another student, 

Defendant Dude publicly posted on Facebook confirming that the individual in the 
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video (S.N.) was a DHS student, and then presented an “unvarnished” rant 

condemning his actions. 

21.  

Defendant Dude explicitly stated his intent to exert his influence and power 

as CSD Superintendent to ensure S.N. was punished. Without conducting any 

investigation whatsoever or even learning of the circumstances of the video, Dude 

mocked legitimate defenses S.N. could assert in a disciplinary proceeding.  

22.  

Defendant Dude’s Facebook post made clear that S.N.’s due process rights 

would be impacted by his race (white) and the racial nature of the video.  Dude 

also attempted to implicate Plaintiff somehow in the making of this video by 

questioning the parenting which might have allowed the making of this video.   

23.  
 

 Defendant Dude’s post was unrestricted in public access. At least hundreds 

of people viewed and had access to it, including individuals with no present work 

or educational connection to CSD.   
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24.  

Dude also posted to an audience who would recognize S.N. by linking his 

Facebook statement to the video, and would interpret from the post that S.N. would 

be facing insurmountable school discipline as a result thereof.  

25.  

 Defendant Dude posted about S.N. on Facebook specifically because of 

S.N.’s race and the racial nature of the video in an attempt to stoke public outrage 

toward S.N., and by familial association, Plaintiff, because of her long history of 

protected whistleblowing activity regarding CSD policies, retaliatory workplace 

issues for CSD employees, misuse of funds, and her advocacy on behalf of 

employees and students.    

26.  

 Defendants had no interest in learning about the circumstances of the video; 

educating S.N. about the wrongfulness of his actions; or, initiating any 

rehabilitative or restorative process whereby S.N. could apologize or learn from his 

mistake as part of a genuine mission to address racism through education, as set 

forth in the School’s Code of Conduct in effect at that time. 
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27.  

Rather, Defendants’ only goal was to remove S.N. from the District through 

expulsion (and eventually Plaintiff, through retaliatory adverse action), by falsely 

and maliciously labeling S.N. as “threatening” to CSD students and staff of color 

and suggesting that S.N.’s mistake of judgment was the result of poor parenting by 

Plaintiff.  

28.  

Though his actions reflected the extremely poor judgment of an immature 

teenager, S.N. posed no actual physical danger to students or staff despite the 

irresponsible rumors about S.N. propagated by Defendant Dude and another DHS 

employee on Facebook.  

29.  

Principal Rochelle Lofstrand falsely represented to parents in a letter dated 

May 28, 2020, that she was “working in conjunction with Decatur Police 

Department” to investigate S.N.   

30.  

In fact, Lofstrand never contacted the police and her investigation was not 

carried out “in conjunction with” the investigation by City of Decatur police. The 
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totality of Lofstrand’s investigation was a fifteen-minute conversation with S.N. on 

May 28, 2020.  

31.  

The separate police investigation was more thorough than Defendants’ 

investigation, yielded evidence that S.N. was not a threat, and did not result in an 

arrest.  

32.  

Lofstrand also represented to DHS parents in a letter dated May 28, 2020, 

that included a link to Dude’s Facebook post, that her race (white) would be a 

factor that would impact her investigation of S.N.  

33.  

Contrary to their representations to DHS community members, Defendants 

deliberately did not collaborate or confer with the police to obtain and consider the 

additional evidence obtained in the police investigation.  

34.  

Instead, following Lofstrand’s fifteen-minute questioning of S.N., 

Defendants recommended expulsion to deliver on their promises to make an 

example out of S.N. because of his race.  
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35.  

Dr. Nahmias had no knowledge of this video until it became public. Upon 

viewing it, she felt horrible about the hurt it would cause the community.  Dr. 

Nahmias has spent her career promoting educational opportunities for the students 

of CSD, including and in some cases especially Black students, and has a long and 

documented record of such efforts. 

36.  

Within hours of the video’s release, Dr. Nahmias contacted her supervisor, 

Ms. Lofstrand, and begged for an opportunity to follow the School’s protocols for 

addressing the video with the school community and to have restorative 

conversations with her DHS colleagues, particularly Black colleagues, to address 

their legitimate concerns about this video, to reassure them that S.N. acted in 

extremely poor judgment but was not dangerous and that the video did not reflect 

their family’s antiracist values.  

37.  

 Defendants have not permitted Dr. Nahmias the opportunity to have a formal 

restorative conversation to date, though she has requested it, and other educators 

have expressed interest in having restorative conversations with her.  
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38.  

While she understood the necessity of addressing the video with the 

community, on May 27 and 28, 2020, Dr. Nahmias also expressed concerns to 

DHS Assistant Principal Wes Hatfield, and Principal Lofstrand, about Dr. Dude’s 

incendiary Facebook post.   

39.  

Defendant Dude’s public Facebook post appeared intended to intimidate her 

son publicly, reflected a racial bias against him in the disciplinary process, and 

violated his educational privacy rights.  

40.  
 

 Defendant CSD’s Employee Handbook, last updated in 2018, contains a 

provision on Student Confidentiality of Records that provides that sharing 

information about students with other individuals, even with other employees who 

are “not in a ‘need to know’ situation, is a violation of the [Family Educational 

Rights and Privacy Act (“FERPA
1
”)], which is grounds for dismissal. This 

situation also includes inappropriate postings on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and 

                                                 
1
 FERPA is codified at 20 U.S.C. § 1232g and 34 CFR Part 99.  FERPA prohibits 

public school districts from releasing personally identifiable information from a 

student’s educational record without prior written consent from a parent, absent a 

statutory exception.  34 C.F.R. § 99.30. 
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other internet sites, conversations with other personnel in hallways, 

social/athletic/extracurricular events, and/or any other public place.”  

41.  

 In addition to Defendant Dude’s public Facebook post, a DHS teacher 

posted on Facebook to an audience that included numerous individuals without an 

educational need to know, that S.N. and his mother (Plaintiff) were “dangerous,” 

and that they needed to be removed from the District.   

42.  

This same teacher, though she has never taught S.N. or been a school 

administrator with authority over S.N., was invited by Defendants to testify at 

S.N.’s disciplinary hearing.  She testified there that she learned S.N. was allegedly 

“dangerous” from his educational record, including a confidential prior 

disciplinary write-up that was shared with her by another educator at DHS without 

parental consent or a legitimate educational purpose.    

43.  

This same teacher also posted on Facebook slanderous and false information 

accusing Dr. Nahmias of “creating an academic environment that lacks diversity” 

by “hiring teachers and populating the International Baccalaureate (“IB”) Diploma] 

program,” presumably with non-Black students.   
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44.  

This was a knowingly false statement since Dr. Nahmias has no authority to 

hire teachers or make determinations about which students should “populate” the 

IB program; on the contrary, IB program participation is based on objective 

eligibility criteria, is decided by a committee of several administrators and 

counselors, and is not a particularly selective application process.   

45.  

The notion that Dr. Nahmias did not make diverse hiring decisions was also 

a known falsehood because Dr. Nahmias is not responsible for any hiring 

decisions. Those are made by administrators and ultimately require the 

Superintendent’s approval.    

46.  

A group of Black educators from a private racial affinity group filed a 

frivolous complaint against Dr. Nahmias on June 11, 2020 (“June 11
th
 grievance”), 

stoked by Defendant Dude’s Facebook post.   

47.  

In this grievance, these individuals claimed, as follows:  

The recent video of S.N. expressing racial violence 

toward the Black community…was not an isolated 

representation of S.N. or the Nahmias family.  Instead, 

this video has offered our community physical proof of 
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the covert racism and elitism that has plagued Decatur 

High School while under the instructional leadership of 

Cheryl Nahmias.  As a result, we demand that S.N. be 

expelled from DHS, and Cheryl Nahmias be relocated 

from [DHS]. 

 

48.  

The letter further alleged that “members of the Black community at [DHS] 

do not feel safe with the return of S.N. or Cheryl Nahmias...”  They then purported 

to compare S.N.’s actions in the video with the Columbine High School shooting 

in 1999, and affirmatively stated that “S.N.’s behavior leading up to the video, and 

then the behavior displayed in the video, demonstrate that S.N. is a real and present 

threat to all students and staff.”   

49.  

The June 11
th

 grievance expressly states that the signatories conferred and 

shared information about S.N.’s prior disciplinary history, even though none of 

them have ever taught him and none would have any educational need to know 

anything about disciplinary incidents in his educational record, as required by 

educational privacy laws, rules, and regulations.    
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50.  

Only two of the signatories to the grievance even had access to S.N.’s 

disciplinary record: an assistant principal and a counselor.   

51.  

Further, the June 11th grievance makes the factually baseless allegation that: 

S.N. has consistently exhibited violent and aggressive 

behavior toward his peers at school. On several 

occasions, behavior referrals were written to document 

S.N.’s highly inappropriate behavior. Instead of the 

administrative consequences that are expected for 

students receiving referrals of this nature, S.N.’s referrals 

are believed to have been deleted from the system 

without the consent of the referring teacher. 

 

52.  

Plaintiff has never challenged a behavioral referral for her son prior to 

CSD’s charging him with making threats in the video, and she does not even have 

access to delete disciplinary referrals in the system.   

53.  

Only CSD administrators with Behavior Management access in the 

District’s electronic database for student information (called Infinite Campus), 

have access to delete disciplinary referrals.  Plaintiff is not an administrator with 
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access to delete disciplinary referrals, which would have been known to the 

assistant principal who signed the June 11
th
 grievance, but she signed it anyway. 

54.  

No teacher can see a behavior record in Infinite Campus for any student 

other than the ones they teach.  The express rationale that the District gave for this 

feature was “for the protection of student privacy.”   

55.  

S.N. has never been disciplined for a “violent” act, or any misconduct of a 

racial nature prior to the video, nor has Plaintiff has never been made aware of a 

single discipline referral for violent or racial misconduct on the part of her son 

prior to the discipline issued to him related to the viral video.   

56.  

S.N.’s prior disciplinary incident that another educator shared with the racial 

affinity group was neither race-related nor “violent.”  S.N. accidentally pushed 

another white student in what was, at worst, a brief instance of horseplay. 
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57.  

As reflected in the June 11
th
 grievance, and in Defendants’ evidence at the 

disciplinary hearing, certificated educators at DHS shared S.N.’s confidential prior 

instances of discipline from his educational record with other members of this 

private racial affinity group, in violation of the FERPA, Standard 7 of the Georgia 

Professional Code of Ethics for Educators, and CSD’s educational privacy policy. 

58.  

These CSD educators in the Black affinity group did not obtain parental 

consent before sharing confidential disciplinary information about S.N. with each 

other outside of a school-sponsored, professional educational context.  

59.  

Although Defendants received the June 11
th

 grievance on that date, they did 

not notify Plaintiff that the Black affinity group was sharing confidential 

information about S.N.’s disciplinary record outside of the scope of their job duties 

and responsibilities.  
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60.  

The June 11
th

 grievance also contains a litany of baseless allegations against 

Dr. Nahmias with no evidence.  These allegations reflect a fundamental 

misunderstanding of Dr. Nahmias’ job duties and responsibilities, powers, and the 

professional workings of the International Baccalaureate program at DHS.   

S.N.’s Unconstitutional and Retaliatory Disciplinary Hearing 

61.  

The same educator and Black affinity group member who posted on 

Facebook that Plaintiff and her son were “dangerous” was called as a witness at 

S.N.’s disciplinary hearing on June 19, 2020, even though she has never taught 

S.N., and was not an eyewitness to the incident that was the subject of the hearing.  

62.  

 She testified in the presence of Defendant Fehrman that she and other 

African-American teachers discussed S.N.’s alleged behavior and disciplinary 

history amongst themselves as part of the racial affinity group, which is not an 

official group within CSD and has no official educational business sponsored by 

the school system.  
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63.  

CSD strenuously objected when the family attempted to introduce 

potentially exculpatory evidence of S.N. that would have rebutted the educator’s 

testimony that S.N. was a threat, including but not limited to evidence from the 

police investigation that supported S.N.’s defense that that he was not a threat.  

64.  

CSD withheld evidence from the family, including but not limited to the 

June 11
th

 grievance, from which the family could have cross-examined this witness 

and others for racial bias.   

65.  

Without knowledge of the June 11
th
 grievance against her, Dr. Nahmias 

wrote a letter to Principal Lofstrand on June 22, 2020, expressing concern and 

complaining about the teacher’s slanderous Facebook posts attacking her and her 

son, which Dr. Nahmias attached to the letter.  

66.  

Dr. Nahmias also alleged that the other educator’s posts about her and her 

son on Facebook were unprofessional and constituted bullying and harassment. 

Indeed, such actions violate Standard 9 of the Georgia Professional Code of Ethics 

for Educators and other laws and rules protecting educational privacy rights.   
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67.  

Dr. Nahmias also complained that the same educator who attacked her 

family on Facebook testified at S.N.’s disciplinary hearing. Plaintiff complained 

that these circumstances appeared to violate S.N.’s due process rights. 

68.  

Defendants took no action to discipline or report any educator for violating 

S.N.’s educational privacy rights.   

69.  

On the contrary, Defendants encouraged and elicited unprofessional conduct 

and violations of the family’s educational privacy rights by the Black affinity 

group members because it furthered their agenda of removing S.N. and Plaintiff 

from the District.  

70.  

Defendants allowed the educators in the Black affinity group to freely 

discuss S.N.’s disciplinary record in violation of federal and state law and ethical 

rules on the basis of their race because they were Black employees discussing a 

white student’s disciplinary history after S.N. was accused of misconduct of a 

racial nature.  
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71.  

Defendants refused to protect and enforce S.N.’s federal and state 

educational privacy rights, and Plaintiff’s parental rights regarding S.N.’s 

educational privacy, because S.N. and Plaintiff are white and S.N.’s alleged 

misconduct involving the video was race-related.   

72.  

 This failure to report by Defendant Fehrman, who was present during the 

educators’ sworn testimony admitting to violating FERPA, was an ethics violation 

on its own under Standard 8 (“Required Reports”) of the Georgia Code of Ethics 

for Educators.  

73.  
 

 Dr. Nahmias was called as a witness on her son’s behalf at his due process 

hearing as well.  

74.  

 Defendants cross-examined Dr. Nahmias on matters alleged in the June 11
th
 

grievance without informing her that she was being investigated or that there were 

pending allegations against her.   
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75.  

Defendants purposely commenced this investigation against Dr. Nahmias 

without informing her of the allegations because of her racial association with her 

son, in retaliation for her testimony on behalf of her son, and to grant the request of 

the racial affinity group to “cancel” or remove the whole family from CSD. 

76.  

 On July 17, 2020, the same group of individuals who submitted the June 11
th
 

complaint sent a second letter about Dr. Nahmias to Defendant Dude and the entire 

Board of Education, with additional signatories (“July 17
th
 letter”).  

77.  

The CSD Board of Education is the tribunal that made the final decision 

regarding S.N.’s disciplinary hearing.   

78.  

The June 11
th
 grievance and July 17

th
 letter were not made part of the 

hearing record in S.N.’s case and not shared with his counsel or his parents. 

79.  

Having received the grievances ex parte, however, the Board of Education 

improperly considered and weighed the grievance and letter in its disciplinary 

decision, in violation of S.N.’s due process rights.  
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80.  

The withholding of these highly relevant documents from Plaintiff and her 

son’s counsel was intended to remove it from consideration even on appeal by the 

State Board of Education or Superior Court, which tribunals could have 

independently evaluated CSD’s decision for racial bias.  

81.  

The July 17
th
 letter contained additional baseless, inflammatory allegations 

against Dr. Nahmias, and further purported to criticize CSD’s selection of 

witnesses for S.N.’s disciplinary hearing.   

82.  

These new allegations demonstrate not only that the racial affinity group 

educators injected themselves into the details of the hearing and attempted to 

control its direction, but also that they somehow had access to what transpired at 

the confidential hearing in violation of FERPA, and state and local laws, rules, and 

regulations regarding student confidentiality. 

83.  

 On January 14, 2021, the State Board of Education reversed the City of 

Decatur Board of Education’s disciplinary decision against S.N., finding that the 

Local Board violated the law through jurisdictional overreach beyond the authority 
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permitted under O.C.G.A. § 20-2-751.5(c).  S.N. v. City Schools of Decatur Board 

of Education, Case No. 2021-02 (Ga. SBE January 14, 2021). 

https://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-Policy/State-Board-of-

Education/SBOEAppeals/Signed%20SBOE%20Decision%20-

%20Case%20No.%202021-02.pdf  

84.  

The State Board’s decision reflects that Defendants’ actions against S.N. 

were designed to placate the community regardless of whether it was within their 

legal authority to do so, and that they misapplied the law in order to make an 

example out of S.N.   

DR. NAHMIAS IS PLACED ON MODIFIED ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE IN THE 

WAKE OF HER SON’S DISCIPLINARY HEARING 

 

85.  

On July 22, 2020, still without knowledge of the allegations against her, Dr. 

Nahmias was placed on a modified administrative leave pending an investigation. 

She was given the option to continue in her job duties, but not permitted to 

communicate regarding school business with any students or employees (the very 

people she is required to serve), other than Rochelle Lofstrand, Dr. Nahmias’ Co-

IB coordinator, Debra LeDoux, and three other educators.  
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86.  

 Throughout the several months-long investigation, Dr. Nahmias was never 

provided with a copy of the June 11
th

 or July 17
th
 letters, was not informed of the 

specifics of any allegations against her, and was denied information regarding the 

identity of the more than forty witnesses questioned by Defendants’ investigators, 

Attorneys Robert Wilson and Keri Ware of the Wilson Morton & Downs LLP law 

firm, for no legitimate reason.   

87.  

 On July 22, 2020, Defendant Fehrman told Plaintiff that she expected the 

investigation to last no more than two weeks.   

88.  
 

 On July 29, 2020, Plaintiff’s counsel sent counsel for Defendants a letter of 

representation notifying Defendants that Plaintiff was asserting claims pursuant to 

Title VII and 42 U.S.C. § 1981 for race discrimination and retaliation, 42 U.S.C. § 

1983 for retaliation under the First Amendment, and O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4 for 

violation of the GWA.  Plaintiff placed Defendants on notice that these claims 

were premised on violations of her rights, and her opposition to violations of her 

rights and her son’s rights.  
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89.  

After Dr. Nahmias’ counsel sent the letter to the District complaining of 

violations of her rights and her son’s rights, Defendants protracted this 

investigation for three additional months. 

90.  

Defendants vastly expanded the scope of their investigation, going back into 

her entire employment history, to find any possible basis to terminate Dr. Nahmias.  

This “investigation” of Plaintiff went well beyond the two complaints against 

Plaintiff, and included questioning of her supervisors and administrators from the 

past fifteen years.   

91.  

On September 1, 2020, two months after the commencement of the 

investigation, and with no inkling from the Defendants regarding her status, Dr. 

Nahmias filed an internal grievance pursuant to CSD Administrative Regulation 

26(c)(4) against Defendant Dude, regarding the discriminatory and retaliatory 

mishandling, delay, and lack of transparency of this investigation. She alleged 

again that the sham investigation violated her rights under the First Amendment, 

Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and the GWA. 
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92.  

 The grievance procedure in CSD Administrative Regulation 26(c)(4) exists 

to enable employees to file grievances against other employees. According to 

Defendant Fehrman, the procedure was created “to assure due process for both 

parties.”  

93.  

Defendants purposely did not direct the complaints against Dr. Nahmias 

dated June 11, and July 17, 2020 to the District’s normal grievance process so that 

they could perform a non-transparent investigation not limited by the allegations in 

the complaint, without the time limitations and safeguards in the grievance 

procedure, and without disclosing the specific allegations against Plaintiff, the 

identity of any witnesses interviewed or evidence available.   

94.  
 

After multiple inquiries from Plaintiff’s counsel, Defendants finally granted 

Dr. Nahmias an investigation interview on September 30, 2020, two months after 

the commencement of the investigation.  

95.  

Plaintiff’s counsel repeatedly asked for a copy of the June 11 and July 17 

complaints to have a meaningful opportunity to prepare for the interview, but 
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Defendants refused to provide the complaints or factual particulars of the 

allegations to Dr. Nahmias in advance. 

96.  

Defendants’ investigative practices were a grave and deeply troubling 

departure from standard government investigative norms and practices built around 

due process, innocence absent proof of guilt, fairness, and transparency.  

97.  

Defendants only provided broad categories of inquiry that sounded like a 

Kafka novel about punishing free speech. Examples of these categories included: 

subversive behavior to those of higher authority, insubordination, advocating for 

others, creating factions within schools, and assuming work outside of her area of 

responsibility.  There were also allegations that she “abused power” by pressuring 

teachers to change grades or asking for lighter discipline for her son.  

98.  

Many of the allegations in the June 11
th

 and July 17
th
 complaints that 

Defendants investigated were nonsensical given Dr. Nahmias’ position, job duties, 

and lack of ability or responsibility to carry out the alleged acts. Defendants knew 

that Plaintiff’s position and job duties made many of the allegations baseless from 

the outset, but investigated them anyway.    
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99.  

In her fifteen-year career at CSD, Dr. Nahmias has never once been written 

up for any reason, including but not limited to all of the allegations against her.  

She has never been documented for acting outside of the chain of command. There 

is not a single historical, contemporaneous document to corroborate that Dr. 

Nahmias had engaged in any insubordinate or “subversive” behavior at any time 

during her employment at CSD.  

100.  

 Dr. Nahmias has also never received a negative performance evaluation in 

her history of employment with CSD.  

101.  

At least one former employee witness who was questioned about pressure to 

change grades denied that Dr. Nahmias ever pressured her to change grades and 

kept opposing and correcting Attorney Wilson’s attempts to falsely re-characterize 

her statements during her interview.     

102.  

Except for her testimony at S.N.’s disciplinary hearing in which Defendants 

recommended expulsion, there is not a single instance on which Dr. Nahmias has 

ever interceded in any way in a disciplinary decision for her children.   
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103.  

The investigation conducted by Defendants’ attorneys was blatantly 

outcome-driven, at Defendant Dude’s direction. Defendants searched for any 

possible basis to demote or fire Dr. Nahmias, not limited to the two purported 

complaints against her.  

104.  

There is no allegation of insubordination in either the June 11
th
 or July 17

th
 

grievance letters, yet the District extensively questioned Plaintiff’s former 

supervisors and other District executives to fish for possible additional bases for 

adverse action.  

105.  

During an all-day interview on September 30, 2020, Dr. Nahmias was 

presented with a total of two documents to explain as part of this investigation. 

Neither of these documents demonstrated that she affirmatively engaged in any 

wrongdoing.   

106.  

On the contrary, both documents related to a highly successful external 

program evaluation of the IB Diploma Program led by Dr. Nahmias.  
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107.  

Defendants’ attorneys made such strained accusations as asking Dr. 

Nahmias whether a parent reading the overall very positive audit of the IB program 

might be concerned that the program was underperforming based on one issue; or 

questioning the IB program’s racial equity efforts despite a reviewing authority’s 

commendation of DHS, “for its strategies that have resulted in significant increases 

in participating students in the [diploma program] during the period under review.”   

108.  

Defendants’ investigators also asked a host of wild and unfounded questions 

about events over which she had absolutely no control or which occurred so long 

ago that no reasonable person would have any recollection.  For example, they 

asked if Plaintiff organized the Susan Riley rally (she did not); held a meeting in a 

DHS trailer on a Saturday to discuss the rally (she did not); kept two Black 

students waiting to speak to her in the library over five years ago while attending to 

two white students (without naming the students, the date, or the reason they 

approached her); and allowed white students to play ping pong outside her office.   

109.  

When Dr. Nahmias asked during her interview for further information or 

context, such as names or dates of incidents so she could fairly respond, Attorneys 
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Ware and Wilson responded, “Why do names or dates matter? Just answer whether 

or not you did it.”   

110.  

Defendants also asked questions aimed maliciously at painting Dr. Nahmias 

as singularly responsible for systemic racism in the DHS IB program, which is 

nonsensical because all IB program decisions are made as part of a team. What is 

more, systemic racism and the racial achievement gap are a national crisis that 

exists everywhere, including at DHS long before Dr. Nahmias ever became 

involved in the IB program.   

111.  

 One of the allegations against Dr. Nahmias was that she did not promote 

racial equity in IB program enrollment.  The IB program recruitment policy was 

developed by a team of DHS administrators and counselors, and then reviewed and 

vetted by Defendant Fehrman and multiple central office and DHS employees.  

112.  

 More importantly, while there is always more that can be done to achieve 

racial equity, there is objective data showing that the DHS IB Diploma program is 

a leader in the area of racial inclusivity.  
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113.  

Beyond this, as additional evidence of her work to support racial equity, Dr. 

Nahmias provided documentation of her efforts to meet individually with every 

unenrolled, potentially eligible student of color to discuss and encourage IB 

Diploma Program enrollment.  

114.  

Attorney investigators with no foundation or background in racial equity 

educational initiatives ignored a long list of Dr. Nahmias’ individual and collective 

racial equity efforts and, without any legitimate evidence, found in the report that 

Dr. Nahmias was not doing enough.     

115.  

In fact, many of the allegations against Dr. Nahmias equally implicated other 

members of the DHS staff who participated in all of the decisions under scrutiny, 

including Defendant Fehrman and other central office executives.  

116.  

 Yet, Defendants chose only to investigate Dr. Nahmias because of her 

association with her son and his alleged race-related misconduct, because of 

baseless allegations made by members of the racial affinity group, and in 

retaliation for Plaintiff’s long history of protected whistleblowing activity. 
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117.  

Defendants chose to investigate only Dr. Nahmias following the perceptions 

of a few individuals who were not in a position to know all of the facts underlying 

those perceptions.   

118.  

Defendants did not weed out all obvious, objectively false allegations before 

investigating, did not place all individuals who were implicated or involved in the 

alleged acts or decisions under investigation, and did not question obvious 

witnesses to many of the alleged acts after anticipating that such witnesses that 

would contradict the allegations.   

119.  

Following her interview, Dr. Nahmias presented to investigators copious 

documentation to defend herself against, inter alia, allegations of pressuring 

teachers to change grades or refusing to comply with directives.  

120.  

She presented evidence that she was assigned to be a messenger between 

students and teachers for grade-change concerns.  There was not a shred of 

evidence that she ever directed or threatened any teacher to change a grade.  
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121.  

Nor was there evidence that Dr. Nahmias met with and supported teachers 

any less if they disagreed with her.   To the extent any teachers “perceived” this, 

investigators accepted these perceptions without obtaining actual evidence from 

Plaintiff or a witness with knowledge of actual circumstances that would 

corroborate such perceptions.    

122.  

In an interview with investigators, a central office employee falsely accused 

Dr. Nahmias of refusing to provide racial equity data. At the request of 

Defendant’s investigators and with a promise from them that FERPA rules would 

not prevent such disclosure, Dr. Nahmias produced an email demonstrating that 

she provided the data to the central office employee on the day it was requested.  

123.  

Nevertheless, Defendants’ investigators ignored her evidence and made 

adverse findings against her in their final report.   
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DEFENDANTS’ RETALIATORY INVESTIGATIVE REPORT AND PLAINTIFF’S 

SUBSEQUENT DEMOTION 

 

124.  

 

 On November 4, 2020, Defendant Fehrman emailed Dr. Nahmias a copy of 

the twenty-eight page investigative report. Defendant Fehrman directed Dr. 

Nahmias to meet with her and Ms. Lofstrand just forty-eight hours later, on 

November 6, 2020, to discuss Plaintiffs’ “perspective” in response. 

125.  

 The investigative report was twenty-eight pages long, with a detailed 

narrative of allegations, but no personally identifiable witness information from 

which Dr. Nahmias could conclusively provide responsive evidence.  

126.  

 Defendant Fehrman refused to postpone the meeting to allow Dr. Nahmias 

more time to process the report and discouraged Dr. Nahmias from having an 

attorney present.  

127.  

Though this was an investigative report of potential wrongdoing, the report 

characterized Dr. Nahmias as “defensive” for responding to allegations that could 

result in her termination.   
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128.  

 

 Though witnesses were not identified, it was clear from context that at least 

half of the witnesses whose testimony was presented in the report by the District 

were no longer employed, and some of them left in disgrace or involuntarily based 

on performance deficiencies. 

129.  

 

 The report contained findings about allegations that Dr. Nahmias was never 

questioned about during her interview.  

130.  

 The report contained a vague, generalized finding of insubordination without 

identifying the supervisors to whom Dr. Nahmias was insubordinate.  

131.  

Insubordination was not an allegation in either of the June 11
th
 or July 17

th
 

grievances against Dr. Nahmias; such allegation was added by Defendants.   

132.  

 The report went further to characterize Dr. Nahmias as engaging in a 

“pattern” of insubordination, without identifying a single document, evaluation, 

write-up, reprimand, or any historical piece of written evidence, including even 

emails between administrators, that would corroborate this conclusion.  
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133.  

One former supervisor, Phyllis Edwards, who was CSD Superintendent 

when Dr. Nahmias was an instructional coach several years ago at Renfroe Middle 

School, purportedly claimed there were “twenty complaints” against Dr. Nahmias 

years earlier regarding her interactions with students and staff.  Edwards never 

disciplined Dr. Nahmias or informed her of these complaints.  

134.  

Further, Defendants did not attach a single one of these alleged complaints 

to the investigative report or confront Dr. Nahmias with them during her interview.  

135.  

Edwards’ alleged response to the purported “twenty complaints” was to 

transfer Dr. Nahmias to the IB Diploma Coordinator position at DHS, which 

involves even more substantial, direct interaction with students and staff.  

136.  

Despite Defendant Fehrman’s promises to the contrary, during the meeting 

on November 6, 2020, Defendants led Dr. Nahmias to believe that they were not 

concerned about her responsive evidence, that they had already accepted many of 

the report’s unfounded conclusions, and that the investigation was over without her 

written response to the report.  
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137.  

Lofstrand asked Dr. Nahmias point blank how she could trust her not to be 

insubordinate even though there was not an iota of documentary proof that Dr. 

Nahmias had ever been insubordinate to any prior supervisor.  

138.  

 Following the meeting, Plaintiff, Defendant Fehrman, and Ms. Lofstrand 

agreed that Dr. Nahmias could submit her written response by November 11, 2020, 

and they would meet again on November 13, 2020 to discuss her written response.   

139.  

 

On November 10, 2020, Lofstrand spoke with Dr. Nahmias’ IB Program 

partner, Debra LeDoux, and they agreed Ms. LeDoux would read the investigative 

report so Dr. Nahmias, Ms. LeDoux, and Ms. Lofstrand could review it together 

and discuss a plan for Dr. Nahmias’ re-entry into her role at DHS.        

140.  

 

 Upon reading the report, Ms. LeDoux discovered that many of the 

conclusions in the report were false.  She informed Ms. Lofstrand that she was 

concerned that the report contained several false conclusions about Dr. Nahmias. 
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141.  

 

 Defendants purposely did not question Ms. LeDoux during the investigation 

even though she was the most obvious witness and had superior personal 

knowledge regarding allegations pertaining to the IB program at DHS than any 

other witness questioned.  

142.  

 

 Ms. LeDoux was also involved in situations in which Dr. Nahmias was 

accused of insubordination. She explained to Lofstrand that several of the 

situations did not occur as described in the investigative report and requested an 

opportunity to provide context and correct mistakes in the report.  

143.  

Lofstrand’s next communication with Ms. LeDoux raised concerns that 

LeDoux was sharing confidential personnel information and inserting herself in a 

personnel process, even though Lofstrand and Ms. LeDoux had agreed that 

LeDoux would read the report.  This mischaracterization of the events and Ms. 

LeDoux’s actions caused Ms. LeDoux to fear retaliation because she questioned 

the content of the report. 
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144.  

 

 After Ms. LeDoux reported inaccuracies in the report, Defendants suddenly 

performed a “routine audit” of their servers which flagged Dr. Nahmias’ email and 

discovered that on November 5, 2020, Dr. Nahmias forwarded emails containing 

student data to her own personal email account.   

145.  

Dr. Nahmias never shared the data in these emails with anyone, never even 

opened the emails because she only sent them to herself as a record of performing 

her work, and never downloaded attachments with student information to her home 

computer. Thus, any confidential student information was never released or shared 

with any third party by Dr. Nahmias.  

146.  

The District does not employ a Virtual Private Network (“VPN”) on which 

educators can log on to upload or exchange student data confidentially and secure 

from the risk of a data breach.   

147.  

Throughout the time of remote learning during the 2020 Coronavirus 

pandemic, CSD educators have worked from home and used their personal home 
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Wi-Fi networks and personal electronic devices to conduct educational business 

for CSD.  

148.  

CSD educators open emails and attachments from their school district email 

domain with confidential student information on potentially unsecured home Wi-Fi 

networks on a daily basis without measures taken by Defendants (e.g. firewalling, 

installing a VPN) to secure that data from phishing and sharing on those networks.   

149.  

Opening files and emails from the school email domain on unsecure home 

Wi-Fi networks entails an even greater security risk than emailing an attachment 

from the school email account to a personal email account without opening or 

downloading the attachment.  

150.  

Simply forwarding an email from the school email account to a personal 

account does not add any security risk, such as malware, viruses, or spyware, to the 

school email account.  
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151.  

Defendants have not disciplined or reported any other educator for opening a 

file with confidential student data on a private, home Wi-Fi network or personal 

device with unknown security protection.  

152.  

Dr. Nahmias emailed documents to herself for a legitimate educational 

purpose, including but not limited to, documenting her compliance with her 

educational job duties and gathering evidence requested by Defendants’ 

investigators in connection with her investigation at the investigators’ request and 

with their permission.   

153.  

The District’s annual FERPA notice to parents and students explicitly states 

that documenting performance of professional duties is a legitimate educational 

purpose. 

154.  

On November 11, 2020, two days before their scheduled meeting, Defendant 

Fehrman unexpectedly directed Dr. Nahmias to meet with her at 5pm. She did not 

give Dr. Nahmias a reason for this sudden meeting before their scheduled meeting.   
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155.  

Dr. Nahmias asked for a reason for this unexpected meeting, and whether 

she was being accused of any wrongdoing. Defendant Fehrman refused to respond.  

156.  

 

At approximately 3:00pm, still without a reason for the 5pm meeting that 

day, Dr. Nahmias submitted her written response to the investigative report.  

157.  

Dr. Nahmias’ attorney contacted Attorney Ware and asked her for the 

purpose of this sudden meeting and if Dr. Nahmias was being accused of some 

new wrongdoing.  Further, Plaintiff’s counsel objected that Defendant Fehrman 

was attempting to investigate a new allegation by ambush.  

158.  

 Ms. Ware refused to disclose whether Dr. Nahmias was being accused of 

some new wrongdoing.  

159.  

 Sure enough, Defendant Fehrman ambushed Dr. Nahmias during this 

meeting and confronted her with the allegation that she emailed herself documents 

containing student information. 
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160.  

Defendant Fehrman then immediately notified Dr. Nahmias she was being 

reassigned to central office on a “special assignment,” and that she would be 

reported to the Georgia Professional Standards Commission, the state licensing and 

certification agency for educators (“PSC”).  

161.  

 

 Defendants Fehrman and Dude were both final decision-makers regarding 

the retaliatory demotion of Dr. Nahmias. They were also final decision-makers 

regarding the retaliatory reporting of Dr. Nahmias to the PSC.  

162.  

Defendants accused Dr. Nahmias of violating CSD Administrative 

Regulation 2.7(1) for “releasing” student information.  The District’s 

Administrative Regulation 2.7(1) states explicitly that it follows FERPA’s 

requirements with respect to protecting personally identifiable information of 

students.  

163.  

 Both FERPA and PSC Standard 7 on Confidentiality prohibit sharing of 

confidential information with third parties. Neither states that educators are 

prohibited from emailing student information to themselves.   
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164.  

 Dr. Nahmias never released or shared any student information with a third 

party.  She never opened or downloaded attachments containing student 

information onto her computer, so the data was never “released.” 

165.  

A representative of the United States Department of Education FERPA 

Technical Assistance office has confirmed that an educator emailing student 

information to her personal email account is not a violation of FERPA and would 

not be investigated.   

166.  

 Prior to her demotion, Dr. Nahmias was last trained on compliance with 

student confidentiality laws in 2018.  The materials from that training contain no 

guidance or instruction prohibiting sending student information to the educator’s 

own personal email address.  

167.  

Neither the District’s Administrative Regulation 2.7(1), FERPA, 

Professional Standards Commission Standard 7, nor the Employee Handbook’s 

provision on Student Confidentiality expressly state that emailing student data to 

one’s own personal email account is a violation of those policies.  
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168.  

 Defendants demoted Dr. Nahmias for emailing student data to herself, but 

took no action against any other CSD employee for violating S.N. and Plaintiff’s 

educational privacy by posting on Facebook or sharing confidential information 

with individuals without an educational need to know.   

169.  

Defendants have never disciplined any other employee for emailing a 

document to the individual’s own personal email account.  

170.  

Defendants created Dr. Nahmias’ new job description especially for her new 

role. One of the categories in the job description which does not appear in any 

other District job description is, “Expected Dispositions and Behaviors.”  

171.  

This is coded language outlining an expectation that Dr. Nahmias not engage 

in protected speech, not push back or act as an advocate if she believes Defendants 

are violating the law, her rights, or someone else’s rights, and not continue 

asserting her legitimate discrimination and retaliation claims against the District.  
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172.  

Dr. Nahmias has never been disciplined for having any issue in her 

disposition or behavior except in connection with Defendants’ contempt for her 

whistleblowing activity.    

173.  

After her demotion, Dr. Nahmias was directed to develop her own 

Professional Development Plan with her new supervisor who knew nothing about 

her performance or alleged issues.   

174.  

This reassignment is a demotion because it involves less prestige and 

responsibility than her former position as Instructional Coach and IB Coordinator 

at DHS. She has no opportunity to interact with students in the new role, which is 

critically important for her to be able to do in order to progress in her career as an 

educator. 

175.  

A report to the PSC and investigation, even without a finding of 

wrongdoing, is a cloud on an educator’s ability to obtain other employment until 

the educator is cleared of those charges, which could take months if there is an 

appeals process. A prospective employer can only view online that there is a 
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pending investigation against Dr. Nahmias and might decline to extend an 

interview to her based simply on the pendency of an investigation, even if it is 

meritless.    

176.  

Dr. Nahmias’ new supervisor is an individual who is lower on the 

administrative scale than any supervisor Dr. Nahmias has reported to in the past 

fifteen years, and she is a much less senior instructional coach than Dr. Nahmias.  

177.  

The District’s decision to have Dr. Nahmias report to someone who is not a 

Director or at the Executive Director level suggests Defendants’ intent to non-

renew Dr. Nahmias’ contract for the 2021-2022 school year. 

178.  

Defendants’ announcement of Dr. Nahmias’ demotion and reassignment to 

the DHS school community was sloppy, cryptic, and abrupt.  It resulted in 

widespread confusion and speculation among Dr. Nahmias’ former DHS 

colleagues, parents, and students, impairing the reputation for hard work and 

effectiveness that she has carefully cultivated over fifteen years at CSD. 
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179.  

The District conducted a new FERPA training on Monday, November 16, 

2020, immediately after Dr. Nahmias’ demotion, advising principals and central 

office staff for the first time that the confidentiality policy, CSD AR 2.7(1), 

includes educators emailing themselves student data.   

180.  

The District has interpreted its confidentiality policy to include emailing 

oneself student data ex post facto to Dr. Nahmias’ alleged violations.
2
   

181.  

 

Such a rule was not explicitly stated in any written guidance, training, 

policy, PSC standard, law, or regulation governing student confidentiality prior to 

Dr. Nahmias’ alleged breach.  

  

                                                 
2 Defendants made similar ex post facto changes to the CSD Student Code of 

Conduct following S.N.’s student discipline incident so that off-campus conduct 

would be covered. Unless such off-campus non-school-related conduct is 

felonious, such an amendment is unlawful jurisdictional overreach on the part of 

the District, in violation of O.C.G.A. § 20-2-751.5(c), much like how the new 

interpretation regarding emailing oneself student data is not in fact a violation of 

FERPA, PSC Standard 7, or any district policy, procedure, guideline, rule, or 

agreement.   
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182.  

 On January 14, 2021, the PSC dismissed the report made by Defendants 

against Dr. Nahmias without even a preliminary investigation, finding “No 

Probable Cause” of a violation of any of its standards.  

DR. NAHMIAS’ ADDITIONAL HISTORY OF PROTECTED WHISTLEBLOWING 

ACTIVITY AT CSD 

 

183.  

Defendant Dude has a custom and practice of retaliating against employees 

who engage in protected whistleblowing activity, and intimidating employees who 

challenge his authority.  

184.  

In February 2016, Defendant Dude fired long-time media clerk, Susan Riley, 

who had documented complaints of harassment from coworkers at Decatur High 

School (“DHS.”) 

185.  

 Defendants’ alleged reasons for firing Riley included, inter alia, 

inappropriately complaining to the administration about mistreatment of her by the 

media specialists with whom she worked. 
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186.  

On February 28, 2016, Dr. Nahmias wrote a letter to Defendant’s Board of 

Education supporting Susan Riley’s reinstatement.   

187.  

On March 2, 2016, Defendant Dude canceled after-school activities at 

Decatur High School and ordered all staff to attend a meeting where he intimidated 

and threatened employees with retaliation if they spoke to media or engaged in 

protest activities regarding Ms. Riley’s termination.  

188.  

Despite Defendant Dude’s efforts to quell employee dissent by intimidation, 

peaceful protest activities still occurred and were widely attended.   

189.  

Later, Dr. Nahmias learned that another District employee shared sensitive 

personnel information about Ms. Riley with her son, a DHS student, who shared it 

with at least one other student, while an independent investigation was pending.  

Dr. Nahmias reported this employee’s lack of professionalism in sharing 

confidential personnel information to Defendant Dude. 
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190.  

The District apparently took no action to discipline, report, or investigate 

this employee for sharing sensitive personnel information regarding Ms. Riley with 

students without any legitimate purpose, though professional conduct toward other 

educators and students is required by PSC Standard 9.  

191.  

Dr. Dude later admitted that the allegations against Ms. Riley may have been 

false, and was forced to reinstate Ms. Riley.  

192.  

On or about September 26, 2016, Dr. Nahmias joined a task force to review 

the employee grievance policy at CSD.  She led a committee charged with 

gathering employee feedback and data to present to the Board regarding changes to 

the current grievance policy.  

193.  

The task force, led by Dr. Nahmias, discovered a widespread climate of 

intimidation and employee fears of retaliation for voicing concerns or complaints 

about supervisors. The task force reported, based on significant data, a widespread 

perception that District leaders abused power by creating a work environment 

hostile to protected speech.  
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194.  

The task force prepared a presentation of these findings and data to be 

presented to the Board of Education at a public meeting, but at the last minute, 

Defendant Dude determined that the data should not be shared and discussed with 

Board members at the open meeting because it reflected a perception that District 

leaders abused power through retaliation.  

195.  

Dr. Dude remains a decision-maker in the third level of the District’s 

grievance process.  After Dr. Nahmias filed her own grievance for the first time on 

September 1, 2020, she expressed fear of retaliation if Dude was designated to 

make a determination regarding his own wrongdoing alleged in her grievance. 

196.  

On October 19, 2020, Dr. Nahmias expressed concern that grievance 

decision-makers who include Defendant Dude, report to Defendant Dude, or 

whose contracts are in his discretion, present a conflict of interest in deciding 

complaints against Defendant Dude.   

197.  

Conflicts of interest are a violation of CSD’s Charter.  
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198.  

In response, Defendants refused to resolve this conflict of interest by 

changing their process, or to allow Dr. Nahmias’ grievance to be evaluated by 

someone over whom Dr. Dude does not have supervisory or contractual control, 

such as the Board of Education.  

199.  

 The climate of fear of retaliation created by Defendant Dude is widespread 

and a recurring theme among staff complaints to Board members.   

200.  

At a Board meeting on October 13, 2020, Board members questioned Dr. 

Dude about this recurring theme of staff complaints regarding fear of retaliation if 

they pushed back against Dude’s directives.   

201.  

In response, Defendant Dude claimed, falsely, “I don’t know of any instance 

where someone is being retaliated against.”   

202.  

Dude made this statement after Dr. Nahmias repeatedly asserted her 

concerns about retaliation to the District, and through the grievance process.   
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PLAINTIFF’S OPEN RECORDS ACT REQUESTS 

203.  

 On November 18, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, made Open Records 

requests for several categories of documents related to this litigation.  

204.  

 As part of this request, Plaintiff requested copies of the June 11, 2020 and 

July 17, 2020 complaints against her, as well as copies of all investigative notes 

and documents regarding the investigation of these complaints.   

205.  

On November 30, 2020, CSD estimated cost and response time to respond to 

all categories of requests at once, irrespective of whether the documents were 

presently available and without cost to produce.   

206.  

On December 2, 2020, Plaintiff’s counsel narrowed the request significantly, 

and requested a cost estimate for those documents.  

207.  

CSD improperly construed the narrowing of Plaintiff’s request as an entirely 

new request that extended the deadline for response three additional business days 

for response.   
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208.  

No provision of the Open Records Act permits agencies to construe 

narrowed existing requests as new requests to extend a deadline.  

209.  

On December 4, 2020, having still not received a revised estimate two 

business days later, Plaintiff’s counsel requested copies of the June 11, 2020 and 

July 17, 2020 complaints, and an estimate for the other documents.  

210.  

Keri Ware, attorney for CSD, responded that the District was not required to 

produce the documents in piecemeal fashion, and indicated that the two 

complaints, even though presently available and readily accessible by her, would 

not be produced until December 7, 2020.  

211.  

On December 7, 2020, Plaintiff sent the District a renewed request for three 

additional categories of documents from her original request.  

212.  

 On December 8, 2020, CSD responded with a cost estimate for gathering 

those documents that amounted to $42.49 for one hour of work.  On the same day, 

Plaintiff agreed to accept the charges.  
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213.  

Plaintiff did not receive these records until over one month later, on January 

13, 2021, and only after re-requesting the records.  

 

COUNT I 

Race Discrimination in Violation of the Equal Protection Clause  

of the United States Constitution  

(Asserted via 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

Against All Defendants 

214.  

All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

215.  

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution entitles Plaintiff to equal protection under the laws, including 

equal protection with respect to race. 

216.  

Defendants disciplined and demoted Plaintiff based upon her race and her 

association with her son because of his race, rather than because of a legitimate 

justification. 

217.  

No compelling or other governmental interest supports the Defendants’ use 

of race as a basis for the employment decisions giving rise to this Complaint. 
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218.  

Defendants undertook all of the unlawful conduct giving rise to Plaintiff’s 

claims while acting under color of State, local law, regulations, customs or usages. 

219.  

 Defendant Dude, individually and in his official capacity, violated clearly 

established law prohibiting the harassment, retaliatory transfer, and demotion of 

employees based on race. 

220.  

Defendant Fehrman, individually and in her official capacity, violated 

clearly established law prohibiting harassment, transfer and demotion of 

employees based on race. 

221.  

Defendant Dude undertook his unlawful conduct intentionally, recklessly 

and maliciously with respect to Plaintiff and her federally protected rights, entitling 

Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive damages against him, individually.  

222.  

Additionally, Defendant Fehrman undertook her unlawful conduct 

intentionally, maliciously and recklessly with respect to Plaintiff and her federally 

protected rights, entitling Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive damages 
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against her, individually. 

223.  

Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and intentionally directed to harm 

Plaintiff. 

224.  

Defendants’ actions were reckless and were taken in willful disregard of the 

probable consequences of their actions. 

225.  

As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ violations of the Equal 

Protection Clause, Plaintiff has suffered damages including diminished job 

responsibility and prestige, reputational harm, emotional distress, inconvenience, 

impairment of future job opportunities, humiliation, and other indignities. 

COUNT II 

42 U.S.C. § 1981 - Race Discrimination 

(Asserted via 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Defendant CSD and Defendants Dude 

and Fehrman in their individual capacities) 

 

226.  

All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 
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227.  

Plaintiff and Defendants were parties to an employment agreement under 

which, inter alia, Plaintiff worked for Defendants and Plaintiff was compensated 

for her work. 

228.  

Plaintiff performed her contractual obligations. 

229.  

42 U.S.C. § 1981 prohibits Defendants from discriminating against Plaintiff 

on the basis of race with regard to the making and enforcing of her employment 

contract with the School District.   

230.  

 Plaintiff also had federal statutory rights as a parent to the privacy of her 

minor son’s educational records under FERPA. 

231.  

Defendants violated Plaintiff’s rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 including, but 

not limited to: (a) sharing her son’s private educational information with third 

parties without her consent or a legitimate educational purpose; (b) selectively 

imposing and enforcing workplace policies, practices, rules, and procedures 

against her but not against Black employees who violated the same policies, 
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practices, rules, or procedures; and (b) subjecting Plaintiff to disciplinary action or 

more severe disciplinary actions, on the basis of her race and her son’s race.  

232.  

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of 42 U.S.C. § 

1981, Plaintiff has suffered damages including emotional distress, inconvenience, 

loss of job prestige and responsibility, reputational harm, impairment of future 

employment prospects, humiliation, and other indignities. 

233.  

Defendants undertook all of the unlawful conduct giving rise to Plaintiff’s 

claims while acting under color of State, local law, regulations, customs or usages. 

234.  

Defendant Dude possessed final policymaking authority with respect to the 

wrongful actions he undertook against Plaintiff which are complained of herein.  

235.  

Defendant Dude, individually and in his official capacity, violated clearly 

established law. 

236.  

Defendant Dude, individually and in his official capacity, undertook his 

unlawful conduct intentionally and maliciously with respect to Plaintiff and her 
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federally protected rights, entitling Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive 

damages against him. 

237.  

Additionally, Defendant Dude, individually and in his official capacity, 

undertook his unlawful conduct recklessly with respect to Plaintiff and her 

federally protected rights, entitling Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive 

damages against him. 

238.  

Defendant Fehrman possessed final policymaking authority with respect to 

the wrongful actions she undertook against Plaintiff which are complained of 

herein. 

239.  

Defendant Fehrman, individually and in her official capacity, violated 

clearly established law. 

240.  

Defendant Fehrman undertook her unlawful conduct intentionally and 

maliciously with respect to Plaintiff and her federally protected rights, entitling 

Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive damages against her. 
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241.  

Additionally and in the alternative, Defendant Fehrman, individually and in 

her official capacity, undertook her unlawful conduct recklessly with respect to 

Plaintiff and her federally protected rights, entitling Plaintiff to recover 

compensatory and punitive damages against her. 

242.  

Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and intentionally directed to harm 

Plaintiff. 

243.  

Defendants’ actions were reckless and were taken in willful disregard of the 

probable consequences of their actions. 

244.  

As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ violations of 42 U.S.C. § 

1981 and § 1983, Plaintiff has suffered damages including diminished job 

responsibility and prestige, reputational harm, emotional distress, inconvenience, 

impairment of future job opportunities, humiliation, and other indignities. 
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COUNT III 

RETALIATION 

Retaliatory Discipline, Retaliation in the Terms and Conditions of 

Employment, Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment, and Retaliatory 

Demotion in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

(Asserted via 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Defendant City Schools of Decatur and 

against Defendants Dude and Fehrman in their individual capacities) 

 

245.  

Plaintiff hereby incorporates each and every preceding paragraph as if set 

forth fully herein. 

246.  

Plaintiff and Defendants are parties to an employment agreement under 

which, inter alia, Plaintiff works for Defendants and Plaintiff is compensated for 

her work. 

247.  

Plaintiff performed her contractual obligations.  

248.  

Plaintiff is a white citizen who engaged in statutorily protected activity by 

objecting to, and complaining against race discrimination prohibited by 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1981 and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e et seq. 
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249.  

42 U.S.C. § 1981 prohibits the Defendants from retaliating against Plaintiff 

because she opposed, objected to, and complained against race discrimination 

prohibited by 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 

amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. 

250.  

Over the past six months, Defendants have subjected Plaintiff to retaliation 

because she advocated for herself and her son, and opposed, objected to, and 

complained against illegal race discrimination. Defendants retaliated against 

Plaintiff by taking various retaliatory actions against her including, but not limited 

to: (a) sharing her son’s private educational information with third parties; (b) 

selectively imposing and enforcing workplace policies, practices, rules, and 

procedures against her but not against Black employees who violated the same 

policies, practices, rules, or procedures; and (c) subjecting Plaintiff to disciplinary 

action or more severe disciplinary actions, on the basis of her exercise of federally 

protected rights as compared with employees who did not engage in similar 

statutorily protected activity. 
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251.  

The above-pled retaliatory conduct toward Plaintiff constitutes unlawful 

retaliation against Plaintiff in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

252.  

As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful actions, Plaintiff 

has suffered diminished job responsibility and prestige, reputational harm, 

emotional distress, inconvenience, impairment of future job opportunities, 

humiliation, and other indignities. 

253.  

 Defendant Dude and Fehrman undertook their conduct intentionally and 

maliciously with respect to Plaintiff and her federally protected rights, or 

additionally, and in the alternative, undertook their conduct recklessly with respect 

to Plaintiff and her federally protected rights, entitling her to recover punitive 

damages against them.  

254.  

 Defendants took their actions against Plaintiff under color of State and local 

law, ordinances, customs or usages. 

255.  

Defendant Dude possessed final policymaking authority with respect to the 
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wrongful actions he undertook against Plaintiff which are complained of herein.  

256.  

 Defendants Dude, individually and in his official capacity, violated clearly 

established law.  

257.  

Additionally, Defendant Dude, individually and in his official capacity, 

undertook his unlawful conduct recklessly with respect to Plaintiff and her 

federally protected rights, entitling Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive 

damages against him. 

258.  

Defendant Fehrman possessed final policymaking authority with respect to 

the wrongful actions she undertook against Plaintiff which are complained of 

herein. 

259.  

Defendant Fehrman undertook her unlawful conduct intentionally and 

maliciously with respect to Plaintiff and his federally protected rights, entitling 

Plaintiff to recover compensatory and punitive damages against her. 

260.  

Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, and intentionally directed to harm 
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Plaintiff. 

261.  

Defendants’ actions were reckless and were taken in willful disregard of the 

probable consequences of their actions. 

262.  

  Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Plaintiff is entitled to damages against 

Defendants, including compensatory damages, punitive damages, attorney’s fees 

and costs of litigation pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, and all other relief recoverable 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  

COUNT IV 

 Violation of First Amendment Right to Freedom of Speech 

(Asserted via 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

Against all Defendants 

 

263.  

 The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

264.  

Plaintiff engaged in constitutionally protected activity by, inter alia, speaking 

as a citizen on matters of public concern, including opposing unlawful race 

discrimination, violation of state and federal student and parent educational privacy 
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laws and professional ethical standards, and advocating for due process for herself, 

her son, and other individuals.   

265.  

Defendants took adverse employment actions against Plaintiff because of her 

constitutionally protected speech, and/or it was a motivating factor in their decisions 

to take those actions against her. 

266.  

 Defendants’ actions have deprived Plaintiff of her right to freedom of speech 

as guaranteed by the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. 

267.  

 This violation of rights was proximately caused by Defendants, who were 

acting under color of state law, and local ordinances, regulations, customs or usages 

of the School District and Defendants Dude and Fehrman in their official capacities, 

in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

268.  

          In addition, Defendants Dude and Fehrman acted in their individual capacities 

in investigating and demoting plaintiff for exercising her First Amendment rights. 

269.  

Defendants’ actions were willful, deliberate, and intended to cause Plaintiff 
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harm and/or were committed with reckless disregard of the harm caused to 

Plaintiff, and were in derogation of Plaintiff’s federally protected rights. 

270.  

 As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ actions against Plaintiff, she 

has been damaged and is entitled to the relief set forth in the Prayer for Relief below. 

COUNT V 

 Violation of Georgia Whistleblower Act, O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4 

Against Defendant CSD 

 

271.  

 The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

272.  

Dr. Nahmias is and was, at all relevant times, a public employee as that term is 

defined by O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4(a)(3). 

273.  

Defendant CSD is a public employer as that term is defined by O.C.G.A. § 45-

1-4(a)(4). 

274.  

From May 2020 through November 2020, Dr. Nahmias repeatedly complained 

to her supervisors, Defendants’ attorneys, and the CSD Board of Education that 
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Defendants were violating her rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, §1983, Title VII, 

O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4, and her son’s educational privacy rights under FERPA.  Plaintiff 

also had a history of engaging in other instances of whistleblowing activity.  

275.  

Defendant CSD has retaliated against Dr. Nahmias for disclosing violations of 

these laws, and complaining about abuse of power by the Superintendent, by 

initiating a sham internal investigation, placing her on administrative leave, and 

demoting her. 

COUNT VI 

 Violation of Georgia Open Records Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-18-73 

Against Defendant CSD 

 

276.  

 The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

277.  

The Georgia General Assembly has declared that “the strong public policy of 

this state is in favor of open government; that open government is essential to a free, 

open and democratic society; and that public access to public records should be 

encouraged to foster confidence in government and so the public can evaluate the 

expenditure of public funds and the efficient and proper function of its institutions.” 
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O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70(a).  

278.  

In Georgia, “there is a strong presumption that public records should be made 

available for public inspection without delay.”  Id.  

279.  

The GORA “shall be broadly construed to allow the inspection of government 

records.”  Id.  

280.  

The documents requested by Plaintiff on November 18, 2020, were “public 

records” within O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70(b)(2). 

281.  

Defendant CSD is an “agency” as that term is defined by O.C.G.A. § 50-18-

70(b)(1) and 50-14-1(a)(1)(B).  

282.  

Agencies must make public records that are responsive to a request available 

for inspection within three business days of receiving the request. O.C.G.A. § 50-18-

71(b)(1)(A). 

283.  

If some, but not all, records are available within three business days of 
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receiving the request, the agency must make available those records that can be 

located and produced.  Id. 

284.  

Defendant had a legal duty to produce immediately available electronic 

records that were available within three business days of the request.  

285.  

In correspondence dated November 30, 2020, Defendant identified only 11-13 

documents responsive to Plaintiff’s request for copies of all complaints against her.  

286.  

Attorney Keri Ware, who responded to Plaintiff’s Open Records Act request 

on CSD’s behalf, had immediate access to the June 11, 2020 and July 17, 2020 

complaints against Dr. Nahmias because she was one of the attorneys who performed 

the investigation against Dr. Nahmias of these complaints.  

287.  

By refusing to produce timely those documents contained in Plaintiff’s 

counsel’s requests that were immediately available as electronic records, including 

but not limited to the June 11, and July 17, 2020 complaints and investigative file 

which were already in Ms. Ware’s possession, within three business days of 

Plaintiff’s November 18, 2020 request, Defendant willfully and/or negligently 
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breached its legal duty to produce those records under the Georgia Open Records 

Act. O.C.G.A. § 50-18-71(b)(1)(A). 

288.  

 Additionally, Defendant refused to produce documents requested on 

December 7, 2020, the cost of which did not require Plaintiff to pre-pay before 

Defendants gathered and copied the documents.  Though the District only 

estimated requiring one hour to search and retrieve these documents on December 

8, 2020, the District did not produce these documents until over a month later, after 

the undersigned counsel’s prompting.   

289.  

 To the extent Defendants asserted attorney-client privilege for the investigative 

file regarding Plaintiff’s investigation, attorney-client communications may be 

obtained in a proceeding under O.C.G.A. § 50-18-73 to prove lack of justification in 

refusing disclosure of documents, provided the judge of the court in which such 

proceeding is pending shall first determine by an in camera examination that such 

disclosure would be relevant on that issue. In addition, when an agency withholds 

information subject to this paragraph, any party authorized to bring a proceeding 

under O.C.G.A. § 50-18-73 may request that the judge of the court in which such 

proceeding is pending determine by an in-camera examination whether such 
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information was properly withheld.  O.C.G.A. § 50-18-72(a)(41). 

290.  

 Plaintiff seeks civil penalties to be assessed against Defendants for the willful 

violation of GORA pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 50-18-74(a). 

COUNT VII 

 Attorney’s Fees and Expenses of Litigation under O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11 

Against all Defendants  

 

291.  

 The preceding paragraphs are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 

herein. 

292.  

Defendants’ actions in repeatedly retaliating against Plaintiff, refusing to 

provide her basic civil rights, and refusing to correct these unlawful acts despite 

multiple complaints, were made in bad faith.  Defendants have been stubbornly 

litigious and have caused Plaintiff unnecessary trouble and expense by their actions 

described in this Complaint.  As a result, Plaintiff claims attorney’s fees and expenses 

of litigation pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 13-6-11. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands a TRIAL BY JURY and that the 

following relief be granted: 
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A. That this Court take jurisdiction of this matter;  

B. That process be served; 

C. That Plaintiff be awarded a declaratory judgment that Defendants 

violated the Constitution of the United States and the federal and state statutes 

listed above. 

D. That this Court enter a permanent injunction, prohibiting Defendants 

from engaging in unlawful employment practices, including but not limited to race 

discrimination, retaliation for engaging in protected speech, and violation of 

constitutional rights to freedom of speech; 

E. That the Court reinstate Plaintiff to her former position as Instructional 

Coach and International Baccalaureate Coordinator at Decatur High School; 

F. That the Court award compensatory damages in an amount to be 

determined by the trier of fact; 

G. That the Court award Plaintiff punitive damages against Defendants 

Dude and Fehrman, individually, in amounts to be determined by the trier of fact; 

H. That the Court award Plaintiff her costs in this action and reasonable 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, and other applicable laws; 

I. That the Court grant Plaintiff the right to have a trial by jury on all 

issues triable to a jury; and 
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J. That the Court grant such additional relief as the Court deems proper 

and just. 

Respectfully submitted this 19th day of January, 2021.                  

                

BUCKLEY BEAL, LLP 

      By: /s/ Anita K. Balasubramanian  

Andrew M. Beal 

Georgia Bar No. 043842 

abeal@buckleybeal.com  

Anita K. Balasubramanian 

Georgia Bar No. 372029 

abala@buckleybeal.com     

 

600 Peachtree Street NE 

Suite 3900 

Atlanta, GA  30308 

Telephone: (404) 781-1100 

Facsimile:  (404) 781-1101 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

 ATLANTA DIVISION 
 

CHERYL NAHMIAS,   ) 

 ) 

Plaintiff, ) 

 ) Civil Action 

v. v.  ) File No.:  

  ) Case 1:20-cv-05206-TCB-AJB 

 ) 

  )  

CITY SCHOOLS OF DECATUR, ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

DAVID DUDE, in his individual and ) 

official capacities, and MAGGIE ) 

FEHRMAN, in her individual and ) 

official capacities, ) 

 ) 

 Defendants. ) 

_________________________________ ) 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I certify that on January 19, 2021, I served by electronic and U.S. mail the 

foregoing AMENDED COMPLAINT on the following counsel for Defendants: 

Keri Ware 

Robert Wilson 

Wilson Morton & Downs 

Two Decatur TownCenter 

125 Clairemont Avenue, Suite 420 

Decatur, Georgia 30030 

kware@wmdlegal.com  

bwilson@wmdlegal.com  

BUCKLEY BEAL, LLP 

 

     By:  /s/ Anita K. Balasubramanian 
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Anita K. Balasubramanian 

Georgia Bar No. 372029 

abala@buckleybeal.com   
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